
United Nations SIXTH COMMITTEE, 765th 
MEETING GENERAL 

i\SSEMBLY 
SEVENTEENTH SESSION 

Official Records • Friday, 23 November 1962, 
at 10.50 a.m. 

CONTENTS 

.4genda item 75: 
Consideration of principles of international 

Jaw concerning friendly relations and co­
operation among States in accordance with 

Page 

the Charter of the United Nations (continued) 161 

Chairman: Mr. Constantine EUSTATHIADES 
(Greece). 

AGENDA ITEM 75 

Consideration of principles of international law concerning 
friendly relations and co-operation among States in accord­
ance with the Charter of the United Nations (A/5192, 

A/C.6/L505, A/C.6/L.507 and Add.l-3, A/C.6/L509 
end Add. 1) (continued) 

1. Mr. ZOUHIR (Tunisia) said that draft resolution 
A/C.6/L,509 and Add.1, which took into account some 
of the arguments advanced during the debate, consti­
tuted an apt synthesis of several theories concerning 
the development of international law in the field of 
friendly relations and co-operation among States, He 
was glad to note that the sponsors had turned to 
account several of the views which he had expressed 
at the 754th meeting. The first five preambular para­
graphs stated principles of a political nature which 
should serve as a basis for the establishment of 
friendly relations among States, The sixth preambular 
paragraph dealt with the economic, social and cultu­
ral co-operation between the under-developed and 
the highly industrialized countries which was neces­
sary for the elimination of a cause of imbalance and 
disorder. In the opinion of his delegation, it was in 
that field, wher,e international law was still largely 
undefined, that the Sixth Committee should formulate 
unequivocally but with the necessary flexibility, the 
legal principles applicable to relations between States, 
At the 754th meeting he had pointed out the political 
and economic aspects of international co-operation, 
basing his argument on Article 13 of the Charter. In 
1945 the authors of the Charter, reflecting the 
development of the world's conscience, had stressed 
the need for basing relations between States on new 
criteria, and to that end they had specified that the 
General Assembly should initiate studies and make 
recommendations for the purpose of encouraging the 
progressive development of international law and its 
codification. Their ideal had been the advent of peace 
and the emancipation of the individual. The task of 
law was to serve that ideal. To ensure proper imple­
mentation of Article 13 of the Charter, the Committee 
should t3.ke into account the requirements of con­
temporary international life. 

161 

NEW YORK 

2. During the discussions, differences of opinion had 
become evident with regard to the scope of the sub­
ject, and some delegations had expressed the fear 
that consideration of principles concerning friendly 
relations and co-operation among States might de­
generate into sterile political argument. Whether one 
liked it or not, however, law, and international law in 
particular, was steeped in politics. It had its source 
in the life of men and societies and in the aspiration 
of mankind to greater well-being, dignity and free­
dom. That life, however, was in a constant process 
of development. Accordingly, law also should develop 
and for that reason it was impossible to erect a 
watertight partition between law and politics. The 
essential point was not to establish a distinction be­
tween law and politics, but rather to adapt inter­
national law to the realities of the modern world, with 
a view to making it an instrument serving all the 
spiritual and material values of contemporary society. 

3, Some delegations took the view that it was neces­
sary to adhere to the major principles of the Charter 
and to leave to international law the taskof determin­
ing, in practice, the limitations of those principles 
and the ways and means of implementing them. For 
its part, his delegation felt that, in order to take into 
account the development of the world since 1945, the 
principles of the Charter should be spelt out or in­
terpreted, wherever necessary, and that those prin­
ciples which had attained a certain degree of maturity 
should be formulated explicitly. New States had 
appeared which had taken no part in the preparation 
of international customary law and were even to some 
extent suspicious of it, since that international custo­
mary law had served to justify colonization and the 
system of capitulations, frum which entire continents 
had suffered for centuries. Only under a just rule of 
law could the small countries hope to achieve their 
full development, free from constraint and pressure. 

4, He approved draft resolution A/C.6/L.509 and 
Add,1. Nevertheless, he would like that draft to 
mention two other principles-decolonization and 
international solidarity-so that genuine co-operation 
could be established among States on both the politi­
cal and the economic levels. The firs.t of those prin­
ciples might be expressed in the fifth preambular 
paragraph, by the insertion of some s1,1ch phrase as: 
"and that decolonization should be continued with a 
view to promoting harmonious co-operation among 
peoples and States 11 • Since 1945, the principle of 
self-determination had developed; it had evolved into 
an obligation, incumbent upon all colonial countries, 
to free the populations still under their administra­
tion. The second principle might be expressed in the 
sixth preambular paragraph, through the addition of 
the phrase: "within the framework of international 
solidarity and for the advance of mankind towards 
dignity and prosperity". 

A/C.6/SR. 765 



162 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Sixth Committee 

5. Mr. CRISTESCU (Romania) said that the major 
problem of the present time was the maintenance of 
peace, and that the solution of that problem was of 
concern to all peoples and all individuals. There was 
only one possible solution for it-peaceful coexist­
ence and co-operation among States on the basis of 
the rules of international law. That showed the im­
portance of the question now under consideration. In 
that respect, the Committee's task was one of the 
greatest of all. The adoption of General Assembly 
resolutions 1505 (XV) and 1686 (XVI), which stressed 
the importance of international law in relations be­
tween nations and the need for the codification and 
progressive development of that law for the further­
ing of the purposes and principles set forth in the 
Charter, already represented some progress in the 
fulfilment of that task. Respect for· international law 
was the first guarantee for the maintenance of inter­
national peace and security. At the present time, 
international law was penetrating into all sectors of 
international life and the idea of an international legal 
system was making progress. Whatever the scope of 
the notion might be in an abstract sense, peaceful co­
existence was, in the contemporary world, the co­
existence of two different political, economic and 
social systems. Recognition of a general system of 
international law depended on such coexistence. The 
events which had occurred since the appearance of 
the first socialist State proved, not only that such co­
existence was possible, but also that international 
law had evolved considerably: reactionary principles 
and institutions were disappearing, while those legal 
rules which tended to ensure the maintenance of 
peace, peaceful coexistence and the free development 
of all countries had asserted themselves effectively. 
The socialist States had contributed greatly to that 
evolution of international law. For its part, his coun­
try had made peaceful coexistence the guiding prin­
ciple of its foreign policy. 

6. Any study of the principles of international law 
concerning friendly relations and co-operation among 
States should be based primarily on the Charter of 
the United Nations, since that legal instrument was 
one of the most important which had been adopted 
since the end of the Second World War, Besides 
creating an international Organization responsible for 
the maintenance of international peace and security, 
the Charter made of that Organization the very 
personification of the principle of peaceful coexist­
ence and the framework with which that principle 
should be applied. It had abrogated a fundamental 
rule of "traditional international law, by providing 
that whenever the obligations of a Member State 
under the Charter conflicted with its obligations under 
any other international agreement, the former should 
take precedence. The Charter had proclaimed the 
principle of peaceful coexistence in its Preamble, by 
calling on States to "practice tolerance" and to "live 
together in peace with one another as good neigh­
bours "-as well as in various provisions concerning 
friendly relations and co-operation among States, 
particularly in Article 2 and likewise in Articles 1, 
11, 13, 33, 55, 56, 73, 76, 94, 95 and 103, 

7. Since the adoption of the Charter, the world had 
undergone a change. There had been the rapid ad­
vance of the socialist countries, the disintegration of 
the colonial systems, and the appearance of a large 
number of new States. The international legal con­
science had developed and had created new legal 
principles of a democratic and progressive nature. 

International law could not ignore those changes. His 
delegation approved the view expressed in the Com­
mittee by Mr. Pal, Chairman of the International Law 
Commission (740th meeting), and also by the repre­
sentatives of Brazil, Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia and 
other countries who had said that international law 
must adapt itself to the realities of contemporary 
international life. To that end, certain principles of 
the Charter should be further developed, while others 
should be studied from a new point of view; prin­
ciples which in 1945 were still in process of forma­
tion should henceforth possess the character of legal 
principles of universal scope. Those new principles 
had been established in bilateral or multilateral 
international instruments such as the Declaration 
contained in the final communique of the Bandung 
Conference, Y the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights adopted by the General Assembly in 1948, the 
Charter and Judgement of the International Military 
Tribunal at Nlirnberg and a number of General As­
sembly resolutions, including resolution 95 (I) affirm­
ing the principles of international law recognized by 
the Charter of the Nlirnberg Tribunal, resolution 110 
(11) condemning all propaganda likely to provoke or 
encourage any threat to the peace, breach of the 
peace or act of aggression, resolution 1236 (Xll) on 
peaceful and neighbourly relations among States, 
resolution 1378 (XIV) on general and complete dis­
armament, resolution 1514 (XV) containing the Decla­
ration on the granting of independence to colonial 
countries and peoples, and resolution 1721 (XVI) on 
international co-operation in the peaceful uses of 
outer space. The legal principles thus recognized 
were exerting a growing influence on international 
juridical views and practices. To overlook them would 
be to ignore the need for the progressive develop­
ment of international law. Moreover, those principles 
stemmed directly from the principles of the Charter, 
which they complemented, developed and adapted to 
the requirements of the contemporary world, thus 
ensuring that law and international life were in 
harmony. The representatives of Italy, Sweden ~nd 
the United Kingdom had pointed out that those prm­
ciples were markedly political in character and were 
on the agenda of other United Nations organs. 

8. There was, of course, a measure of interdepend­
ence between politics and international law. In that 
connexion, he pointed out that the members of the 
Sixth Committee had to state both the political and 
the juridical position of their Governments and that 
it was as representatives of their Governments, and 
not as specialists in legal matters, that they were 
called upon to contribute to the progressive develop­
ment of international law and its codification. More­
over, there should be no confusion between theformu­
la:Uon of new principles of international law and the 
settlement of political questions with which other 
organs of the United Nations had to deal. Whatever 
the work performed by those organs, the Sixth Com­
mittee should not fail in its task of ensuring the pro­
gressive development of international law and its 
codification. It should identify the pertinent prin­
ciples of the Charter and of the international instru­
ments subsequent to the Charter-namely, the prin­
ciples designed to maintain international peace and 
security, liquidate colonialism, and guarantee the 
self-determination of peoples, the sovereign equality 
of States, and political, economic, social, cultural 
and humanitarian co-operation among States. 
!I Conference of African and Asian States, held 18-24 April 1955. 



765th meeting - 23 November 1962 163 

9, The Czechoslovak draft resolution (A/C.6/L.505), 
which set forth all those principles, provided an 
excellent working basis, In contrast, draft resolution 
A/C.6/L.507 and Add,1-3, which mentioned only two 
principles, was too limited. It should be remembered 
that at the sixteenth session the Sixth Committee had 
unanimously decided to examine all the pertinent 
principles of international law-which accounted for 
the title of the agenda item at present under con­
sideration. With regard to the question of the peace­
ful settlement of disputes, the representatives of 
Canada, Denmark, Sweden and the United Kingdom 
had spoken at length in favour of the compulsory 
jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice. 
That was a question on which the Member States of 
the United Nations had never been able to agree. He 
observed that, at the current session, the General 
Assembly (1167th plenary meeting) had rejected the 
insertion of a compulsory jurisdiction clause in the 
Convention on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age 
for Marriage and Registration of Marriages; and he 
emphasized that such a clause would have been in­
compatible with contemporary international law, To 
the representatives who viewed the compulsory juris­
diction of the International Court of Justice as a first 
step towards a super-state, he pointed out that the 
notion of a super-state had been rejected when the 
Charter of the United Nations had been adopted, and 
that the Charter enshrined the principle of the sover­
eign equality of States. That principle was the very 
basis of contemporary international law, and many 
peoples had struggled for their liberation in its name, 

10. A study of all the principles of international law 
concerning friendly relations and co-operation among 
States, with a view to the incorporation of those prin­
ciples in a legal instrument, was necessary to enable 
the new States to express their views and contribute 
to the evolution of law. The need for such a study had 
been emphasized by the representative of Mexico, 
and emerged from draft resolution A/C.6/L.509 
and Add.1, 

11. Lastly, his delegation considered that those 
principles should be proclaimed in an international 
instrument of general scope, such as a declaration. 
It was in accordance with United Nations practice 
that the most important questions should be the sub­
ject of a declaration. A declaration was a formal act, 
which would have more weight than a simple recom­
mendation. It would be a guide for States and would 
exert an influence on international practice, It would 
constitute a general systematization of the principles 
of international law and thus contribute to the pro­
gressive development of that law and its codification. 
It would be the starting-point for a more thorough 
examination of those principles, leading to the pre­
paration of new international instruments of a binding 
nature, Draft resolutions A/C.6/L.505 and A/C.6/ 
L,509 and Add,1 both had the merit of proposing the 
adoption of a declaration setting forth the relevant 
basic principles, 

12, Mr. RAMAHOLIMIHASO (Madagascar) said that 
friendly relations and co-operation among States 
could be viewed in different ways, according to the 
states' degree of juridical and historical evolution, 
their diversity and their economic and social sys­
tems. That question, far from being a cause of 
division, could become a means of safeguardingpeace 
and promoting justice, if it were studied from a 
positive and constructive standpoint. Peace and jus-

tice, in fact, remained the two objectives at which 
all States should aim; but they were difficult to attain 
in that they were moral notions. If they were to be­
come realities, co-operation would be needed among 
all States-taking the form, in the legal sphere, of 
codification of international law, a common task in 
which all must participate, In the final analysis, 
every country would benefit from that work, since 
the code of international law thus formulated would 
be a juridical instrument of which States would con­
stantly make use, The rules of international law in 
question were the starting-point for the progressive 
development of law, and were not immutable, Their 
formulation, begun by the League of Nations, had 
been continued at the Dumbarton Oaks Conference in 
1944, Their general principles had been stated in the 
Charter of the United Nations, and the International 
Law Commission was now guided by the work of the 
Sixth Committee in the discharge of its task, 

13, The emergency of a large number of new States 
could be regarded as a notable event, in so far as 
those States were called upon to contribute to the 
progressive development and codification of inter­
national law. The concerns of each State naturally 
varied, Europe and America, for instance, considered 
peaceful coexistence as a modus vivendi between 
countries with different economic and social systems; 
while the African countries like Madagascar, which 
had only recently become independent, attached par­
ticularly great importance to respect for the national 
sovereignty, territorial integrity and independence of 
States, to their sovereign equality and to non-inter­
vention in their domestic affairs. Those principles 
would become dynamic ideas in proportion as the 
young States, which were still groping their way, 
made their contribution to international life. New 
States would become independent and others would 
re-form themselves into federations or confedera­
tions; that would undoubtedly give rise to legal prob­
lems and even to conflicts, which would be brought 
before the International Court of Justice as supreme 
arbiter. All States would have recourse to that body, 
whose code of international law would be the refer­
ence document. In formulating that code, the Sixth 
Committee would promote not only the cause of law 
but also the cause of peace. The merit of the Czecho­
slovak draft resolution (A/C.6/L.505) was therefore, 
perhaps, that it emphasized the political implications 
of the codification of international law. In order to be 
effective, friendly relations and co-operation among 
States could not be based on juridical considerations 
alone, but must extend to all fields-political, eco­
nomic, social and cultural-as stressed in paragraph 
17 of the Czechoslovak draft resolution. The gap be­
tween the industrialized countries and the developing 
countries was such that aid to the latter had become 
just as much a duty as the defence of peace or the 
safeguarding of freedom. So long as that gap remained 
unbridged, co-operation among States would be weak 
and peace precarious, Consideration of principles of 
international law concerning friendly relations and 
co-operation among States in accordance with the 
Charter of the United Nations was therefore a ques­
tion of balance and harmony between all the Member 
States. In deciding to take it up, the Sixth Committee 
had perhaps undertaken an advance-guard action for 
the defence and maintenance of peace. 

14, Mr. MAURTUA (Peru) congratulated the Czecho­
slovak delegation on having taken the initiative in 
presenting to the Sixth Committee a draft resolution 



164 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Sixth Committee 

(A/C.6/L.505) designed to define certain principles 
which it regarded as fundamental to the promotion of 
friendly relations and co-operation among States. 
That delegation, in so doing, had shown the great 
importance which it attached to legal principles, 
while at the same time safeguarding the important 
role which the Sixth Committee ought to play in the 
Organization. However, the proposed declaration of 
principles did not provide for the problem the solu­
tion desired by the Czechoslovak delegation-namely, 
recognition of the fact that peaceful coexistence was 
the appropriate means of ensuring international peace. 
As several other speakers had said, many of the 
principles contained in the Czechoslovak resolution 
were already embodied in the Charter which, reflect­
ing the world attitude in respect of law, had arranged 
and formulated them on the basis of their accept­
ability to all, The Charter could therefore be re­
garded as the codification of the principles which 
governed international co-operation. The adoption of 
a new declaration, even if it recapitulated terms of 
the Charter, would result in a superabundance of 
principles-apart from the fact that its drafting would 
constitute an admission that the principles contained 
in the Charter were not fully recognized or stood in 
need of confirmation. Moreover, in the Czechoslovak 
declaration the principles were not graded according 
to their importance or usefulness: principles recog­
nized by all States were found side by side with prin­
ciples based not directly on the Charter but on deci­
sions of the General Assembly, as well as principles 
whose definition was based on political criteria re­
flecting, not the strict application of a known rule, 
but situations in which various legal factors governed 
by a political trend might play a given role according 
to circumstances. Finally, the declaration included 
principles-such as that contained in paragraph 19, 
regarding State responsibility-which went beyond the 
stage at present reached by the evolution of law. 

15. The Peruvian delegation had always maintained 
that the method adopted for the formulation and codi­
fication of international law was of primary impor­
tance, for the application of law was inseparably 
linked with the effectiveness of the work of codifica­
tion. No good result would be obtained by trying to 
formulate rules on questions which had not yet 
entered the field of international law or which, under 
the principles of that law, were within the competence 
of States alone. Nor was it desirable to hasten the 
process of codification, since a mere semblance of 
agreement would be only a quicksand sapping the 
authority of conventional law. 

16, The title of the agenda item under consideration 
made it clear that the Sixth Committee should formu­
late all the principles governing peaceful relations 
among members of the international community; in 
other words, the task was to produce a declaration of 
the fundamental rights and duties of States. The idea 
was not a new one, but it should not be forgotten that 
a declaration of that nature had already been the sub­
ject of differences of opinion and had had to be 
shelved (see General Assembly resolution 375 (IV)). 
Logically, however, that would have been the ideal 
solution, since all work of codification must have, as 
its starting-point, general principles transcending 
the policies and interests of States. In Peru, it had 
always been admitted that, so far as the codification 
of international law was concerned, the conventional 
law of States was the last stage of customary law as 
it stood at the time when States agreed to undertake 

such codification. Peru had long held that, if it was 
possible at a given moment to reduce to conventional 
or legislative formulae all the legal factors which 
governed or should govern relations between States, 
international law would be crystallized but the evolu­
tion of law in the world would suffer or, more prob­
ably, life itself would conquer and shatter written 
law. As the Polish representative had very rightly 
said, the progress of law should follow the evolution 
of life; but it was important that the work of formula­
tion and codification should conform to certain regu­
lating criteria, In the opinion of the Peruvian dele­
gation, it was essential in that field first, to determine 
which were the constant elements; second, to de­
termine the "variable legal element" and, within that 
framework, the topics had reached the stage where 
it would be possible to decide, at a given moment, 
that it was timely and useful to codify them; third, 
to eliminate topics which, at the present stage of 
national laws and the political functioning of States, 
would provoke intervention by other countries with a 
view to imposing, directly or indirectly, solutions 
having repercussions on international public order; 
and fourth, to identify the various influences to be 
felt throughout the world, so as to determine what 
forces were preventing general agreement. Nothing 
constructive would be achieved by seeking to intro­
duce into positive law forms and procedures which 
States might oppose on the ground of their funda­
mental interests. · 

17. The Peruvian delegation noted with concern the 
differences of view with regard to the very purpose 
of the question under consideration -differences which 
stemmed from the title of the agenda item itself, 
since it implied both consideration of principles of 
international law concerning friendly relations and 
co-operation among States, and study of the prin­
ciples on which peaceful coexistence should be based. 
Those preferring the first interpretation thought that 
it was useless to formulate principles governing 
international co-operation and friendship, as those 
principles already existed in the Charter. Yet, given 
the existing state of international relations it would 
not be superfluous to reaffirm those principles; the 
principles contained in the Charter derived their 
authority from the fact that they were already gen­
erally recognized and accordingly superseded older, 
outworn legal formulae. For those, on the other 
hand, who advocated development of a system of 
positive ideas promoting the peaceful coexistence of 
States, the formulation of principles of friendship and 
co-operation was a decisive and constructive factor. 
According to them, coexistence had certain political 
aspects which ought to be placed on a legal basis. 
That was an interesting sociological notion. Coexist­
ence was considered as social life•itself, embracing 
all the factors which made possible the evolution of 
peoples. If a precise legal meaning was to be attached 
to those factors, the field of international law was 
entered, with a view to any possible formulation 
being directed towards the safeguarding and mainte­
nance of peace. Seen in that light, coexistence was 
simply the state of peaceful relations governed by 
recognized principles of international law. Otherwise, 
the term "coexistence" would have to be analysed, 
and it must be recognized that there were various 
notions as to its meaning. 

18. The first, which stemmed from the Charter, was 
the conception according to which, the purpose of 
the Organization being peace and peace being indivisi-



765th meeting - 23 November 1962 165 

ble, aid to the under-developed countries was an 
obligation incumbent upon all States, as a means of 
strengthening peace. Another conception of coexist­
ence, advanced by the United States delegation and 
developed further by the USSR representative, was 
peaceful coe'i.istence which did not exclude competi­
tion-in other words, a sort of status quo in the 
matter of political differences, competition operating 
only in the economic field, The notion of coexistence, 
like the Charter as a whole, would be based on 
respect for, and the defence of, peace. The difference 
between revolutionary political and social systems 
and the capitalist system would reside in the in­
terpretation of international law rather than in its 
application. If the reign of peace was the objective, it 
mattered little who was the source of respect for the 
rules of peace. But in that case coexistence, on the 
assumption that the two political and social systems 
were maintained, would be reflected in a static 
formula of social life. Yet what was needed was a 
positive and dynamic notion of coexistence, so that it 
should take the form of concerted co-operation by all 
States in tasks of common interest. That would lead 
to the elimination of the cold war, which was a result 
of competitive coexistence. In short, if coexistence 
was recognized as a social state, the strictly legal 
framework was exceeded, while if it was situated in 
the legal field, there was no denying that it was over­
taken by a sort of paralysis of the factors making for 
social and legal progress. 

19. From another standpoint, it should be noted that 
coexistence, as presented to the Sixth Committee, 
constituted no more tha:n reaffirmation of a social, 
political and legal fact basic to the organization of 
any civilized community of States. He referred to two 
important factors arising from the rights and duties 
of States: solidarity in the defence of peace, and 
compulsory co-operation. Those two factors were, 
for all practical purposes, the keystone in the struc­
ture of international legal life. The independence and 
the equality of States would be meaningless concepts 
in a world divided by barriers which prevented the 
necessary fusion of human aspirations and provided 
only for the essential limitation of rights. If should 
not be forgotten that international law was at present 
seeking to eliminate the old idea of the exclusive 
rights of States and to replace it by the affirmation 
of their rights and duties-which would lead to the 
following formula, facilitating the application of inter­
national law in its most theoretical form: "the rights 
and the duties of States are interdependent, respect 
for the right of one is the duty Of all". 

20. But coexistence should apply in other fields as 
well. A positive statement of it would admit that it 
was based on mistrust in international relations­
which would give rise to the hypothesis that good 
faith could be absent in the fulfilment of the obliga­
tions stemming from the Charter. It would also 
reveal the existence of economic and social under­
development as a consequence of a policy of exploi­
tation, and disregard of the rights of human groups­
a policy that had always been a source of tension, 
discontent, or rebellion against established systems. 
The arms race, too, brought home the risk involved 
in a miscalculation in international relations-a mis­
calculation which might lead to atomic war. In that 
respect; the notion of coexistence seemed necessary, 
since uncertainty involved frequent reaffirmation of 
the duties of States and of the need for them to co­
operate unreservedly in the defence of peace. For 

that reason, coexistence could not be conceived in the 
abstract and dissociated from other elements. All 
international life was coexistence, if it was inter­
preted as compulsory co-operation and indispensable 
solidarity. 

21. Turning to the three draft resolutions before the 
Committee, he said that theCzechoslovaktext(A/C.6/ 
L,505), on the one hand reaffirmed principles which 
had already been accepted since they were stated in 
the Charter and, on the other hand, set forth certain 
concepts which came within the domain of the politi­
cal and legal relations of States. The latter concepts 
should be thoroughly examined by the bodies which 
were competent in the matter of international law, 
and in particular, by the International Law Commis­
sion. He would like, however, to make a few brief 
remarks concerning the principles set forth in the 
draft declaration contained in that draft resolution. 

22. In paragraph 1 the declaration discarded the 
idea of aggression, giving preference instead to the 
notions of threats to and violations of the peace, The 
Czechoslovak delegation had probably encountered 
the same difficulties in trying to define aggression 
as had beset the United Nations, which had long been 
endeavouring to include a definition of aggression in 
a code of offences against the peace and security of 
mankind. The notion of aggression was embodied in 
the Charter; it was not identical with threats to, and 
violations of, peace. The latter concepts were not 
clearly defined, and at a time when armaments in­
cluded more and more weapons of mass destruction, 
it was imperative that threats, and their corollary 
self-defence, should be given urgent consideration. 
While in no way desirous of recommending preventive 
war, his delegation wished to stress that in that 
aspect of relations between States, international law 
should be preventive in character. The principle 
contained in paragraph 2 departed from the United 
Nations Charter, which in Article 33 did not establish 
any preference as between the various means for the 
pacific settlement of disputes. Although the Security 
Council might recommend particular methods, the 
ultimate choice rested with the parties concerned, 
The principle set forth in paragraph 3, although it 
stressed the territorial integrity and political in­
dependence of States, did not guarantee their sover­
eignty. Nor did it take into account that, although in 
some cases a war was simply the unleashing of 
force against the sovereignty, territorial integrity 
or independence of a State, in other cases a declara­
tion of war was a formal actofa legislative character 
which enabled a State that was a victim of aggression 
to adapt its domestic law and its institutions to the 
demands of a situation brought about by an unjustified 
act of armed attack. The principle set forth in para­
graph 4 reflected the opinion of only one of the two 
blocs into which the world had been divided by the 
cold war, for it was the USSR which supported the 
theory that the attacking party was the aggressor. 
That could not be regarded as a permanent element 
in international relations in so far as their legal 
aspects were concerned. 

23. Paragraph 6 was an amalgam of heterogeneous 
components. War propaganda might be linked with 
preparations for an aggressive war, which would be 
prohibited under paragraph 3, War propaganda was 
immoral in all cases and not only in regard to nuclear 
war. Furthermore, the reference in that paragraph 
to national and racial hatred was irrelevant to the 



166 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Sixth Committee 

question of war propaganda. With respect to para­
graph 7, he preferred the wording of the United 
Nations Charter, because the wording of the Czecho­
slovak draft resolution seemed ultimately to condemn 
armed attack, which created solidarity between other 
States and the victim of the attack, and thus excluded 
serious threats and, in general, acts of aggression. 

24. He regretted that in the Spanish version of para­
graph 9, the term "incautaci6n", which was not com­
monly used in the language of positive international 
law, had been used to translate the word "seizure". 
In addition, he pointed out that no safeguard had been 
provided for in that paragraph for a State against 
which collective action had been decreed by the com­
petent international organs. That paragraph should 
specify that any international action undertaken in an 
emergency must be strictly limited, in both duration 
and scope, to eliminating the situation giving rise. to 
that action. 

25. Paragraph 12 had an obvious political motiva­
tion. Its purpose was to draw attention to the situa­
tion of mainland China, which, by virtue of the 
principle stated in that paragraph, might be able to 
enter international organizations through the indirect 
route of participation in certain multilateral treaties. 
The object of that principle should be to stress the 
need for States to participate in all matters of con­
cern to the international community, and especially 
in the organization of international public services in 
which States had a duty to co-operate. 

26. He pointed out that the use of the term "non­
intervention" in paragraph 13 departed from the con­
cept of law recognized in all the conventions dealing 
with that matter. His delegation preferred the Latin 
American interpretation of non-intervention, which 
was a recognized legal concept and had the further 
advantage of being broader than the term chosen by 
the Czechoslovak delegation, 

27, The Peruvian delegation also considered it in­
appropriate to introduce into a declaration of prin­
ciples concerning the codification of international law 
the principle of the elimination of colonialism as a 
consequence of the exercise of the right of self­
determination, The elimination of colonialism was 
well on the way to being achieved, but the interplay 
of political, economic and social factors made that 
problem a difficult one to solve. It was a question 
which could not in any case be covered by a rule of 
law, 

28, With regard to draft resolution A/C.6/L.507 and 
Add.1-3, his delegation found it generally satisfactory 
but did. not understand why the study should be 
limited to only two principles. The reason was per­
haps indicated in the second and third preambular 
paragraphs of draft resolutionA/C.6/L.509 andAdd.l. 
Although that text contained some interesting sugges­
tions, it included certain elements which should be 
eliminated, as they might give rise to political 
controversy. In his delegation's opinion, the sponsors 
of the various draft resolutions should try to come to 
an understanding on a joint text that might secure 
general support. 

29, Mr. SAARIO (Finland) said that Articles 1 and 2 
of the United Nations Charter set out all the prin­
ciples needed to ensure friendly relations and co­
operation among States. Those principles were laid 
down with such clarity as to preclude divergent 
interpretations, and there accordingly seemed to be 

no need to restate them in any other international 
instrument. Such a measure would not, moreover, 
mean real progress because the result of paraphras­
ing the provisions of the Charter might easily be to 
depart from them rather than to clarify them. It 
would seem, on the contrary, that a more useful pur­
pose might be served by studying the principles of 
the Charter one by one, in a realistic and constructive 
way, and then considering what form should be given 
to the result of the study. He cited human rights as a 
relevant example: they had not been defined in the 
Charter, but had subsequently been made the subject 
of a Universal Declaration. Moreover, the Third 
Committee was still engaged in studying the draft 
Covenants on Human Rights. Although the method 
followed for human rights might not be the one best 
suited to the item under discussion, an effort should 
in any case be made to lay down the main lines of a 
programme and a method of work. 

30. One of the principles which, although generally 
recognized, might be a suitable topic for study was 
the principle of the sovereign equality of States 
Members of the United Nations, which was embodied 
in Article 2, paragraph 1 of the Charter. That prin­
ciple derived from the idea of the State as a legal 
person, a sovereign entity and a subject of inter­
national law. The exact meaning of that principle had 
none the less frequently been subject to differing 
interpretations, and it was particularly difficult to 
establish the desired balance between State sover­
eignty and the demands of an effective international 
organization. The conditions under which the concept 
of State sovereignty had been able to extend its influ­
ence over the international conduct of nations had 
undergone radical changes since the beginning of the 
twentieth century and particularly since the end of 
the Second World War. In a world in which rapid and 
enormous progress was being made in the field of 
science and technology and in which new States were 
emerging, there was most certainly a need to examine 
with the utmost care what could be done, and what 
ought to be done, in the realm of law in order to 
facilitate the creation of conditions which would 
ensure the establishment in the common interest, of 
harmonious relations within the community of nations. 
At the present time, the standards of international 
law should reflect the opinions of all in order to be a 
workable instrument in solving world problems. 

31. Another feature of the present-day world was 
the fact that peoples and nations had many interests 
in common, the principal one obviously being the 
maintenance of peace and security. The interdepend­
ence of States was assuming increasing importance, 
and public opinion was exercising an ever-growing 
influence on international politics. Co-operation be­
tween States was indispensable, and no State could 
live any longer in isolation. It was within the frame­
work of those considerations that the concept of 
sovereign equality should be envisaged and analysed. 

32. In order to establish friendly relations and co­
operation among States, it was necessary above all 
for States to be willing to settle their differences by 
peaceful means and for accepted rules and procedures 
to exist for that purpose. Great efforts had been 
made in that respect, and mention might be made of 
The Hague Conventions for the Pacific Settlement of 
International Disputes of 1899 and 1907, which had 
set up international committees of inquiry and created 



765th meeting- 23 November 1962 167 

the Permanent Court of Arbitration.~ The Statute of 
the International Court of Justice, which had suc­
ceeded the Permanent Court of International Justice, 
did, it was true, provide that the concept of sover­
eignty should prevail in matters concerning the sub­
mission of international disputes to the Court, but a 
constant effort had been made to extend the com­
pulsory jurisdiction of the Court. It would be highly 
desirable that, instead of hesitating to accept the 
optional clause embodied in Article 36 of the Statute 
of the International Court of Justice, all States should 
accept the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court, thus 
showing their good faith in the matter of the peaceful 
settlement of disputes. The delegation of Finland 
suggested, in that respect, that the Sixth Committee 
should study ways of ensuring a more general accept­
ance of the optional clause, as the codification of 
international law could only assume its full signifi­
cance if all States accepted the compulsory jurisdic­
tion of the Court; Finland, for its part, was among 
the States which had accepted that jurisdiction. It 
would, however, be over-optimistic to believe that all 
States could be successfully persuaded to accept such 
jurisdiction in the near future, and he did indeed 
recognize that certain disputes between States did not 
lend themselves to a purely legal solution. In such 
cases, the parties to the dispute· should seek a settle­
ment by negotiation, mediation, conciliation or any 

Y The Hague Conventions and Declarations of 1899-1907, ed. james 
Brown Scott, director (Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 
1915), p. 57. 

Litho in U.N •. 

other means provided for by the Charter, while dis­
playing good faith, tolerance and a conciliatory spirit. 

33, In order to establish friendly relations and co­
operation among states, it was essential to restore 
to the spirit of San Francisco all its lustre, to 
harmonize the· interests of States and to strengthen 
the solidarity and interdependence of States on a 
basis of non-aggression and respect for the sover­
eignty, equality, territorial integrity and political 
independence of each State. Ideological, religious, 
cultural and other differences should not divide 
peoples, but should be a source of wealth and strength 
serving the well-being and culture of mankind as a 
whole. 

34. The two draft resolutions (A/C.6/L,505 and 
A/C.6/L.507 and Add,1-3) which had been before the 
Committee since the beginning of its consideration of 
the present agenda item had given the necessary 
sense of direction to the discussion, and a third draft 
resolution (A/C.6/L.509 and Add.1) had been added 
to them. He did not want to conunent on those draft 
resolutions at that moment, but might return to them 
later. His delegation considered, however, that a 
common ground could be found and that the conditions 
necessary for real progress in the matter in hand 
would thus be established. 

The meeting rose at 1.10 p.m. 

77601-.May 1963-2,075 




